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Top Energy Consumer Trust
Trustees' report
31 March 2017

Trustees' report

The Trustees present the annual report of the Top Energy Consumer Trust, incorporating the financial statements
and the auditor's report, for the year ended 31 March 2017.

The Board of Trustees of the Top Energy Consumer Trust authorised the financial statements presented on pages
8 to 59 for issue on 27 June 2017.

For and on behalf of the Board.

onhe Sharp Steven James
Trustee Secretary
27 June 2017
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TRUSTEES’ REVIEW

IN RELATION TO THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

The Top Energy Group has had another very successful profit year. Profitability
exceeded the targets trustees and directors agreed at the beginning of the financial
year. Service levels are below those agreed but the result is still well under the target
level set by the Regulator. In recent years, the Statement of Corporate Intent (SCT)
agreed between the trustees and directors has been expanded to include reporting on
health and safety matters. While the Group reported 3 lost time injuries, as opposed
to the target of 2, the average time lost per injury is less, indicating that the injuries
that were experienced were less severe than might have been expected.

The Far North often suffers from weather events which are the tail end of tropical
cyclones from the north and north west. This year was no exception, with three events
spread throughout the year. These resulted in the Company exceeding the number of
minutes that an average consumer was without power. The target was set at 350
minutes but, in The end, this proved too tough for the Company. A result of 401
minutes was recorded, but this was still below the leve! of 435 minutes set by the
Commerce Commission.

While we have no control over the performance of the national grid, any loss of supply
impacts on all the power consumers of the Far North. This year, supply was lost for
about 8 hours when insulators on a Transpower owned tower south of Kaikohe were shot
out. It is hard to understand why individuals do this sort of thing, when the result is
the loss of power to more than 60,000 people, throughout the District, resulting in
economic loss and inconvenience to all. This event was followed by another event
further south, involving an out of control fire and Transpower was required to turn the
power supply off for safety reasons.

Consumers have asked why, when these situations arise, can not Ngawha maintain
supply, for some of the people at least. Our questioning of the Company has confirmed
that there are complex safety and control reasons why this can not occur, at this time
at least. However, if the nexf stage of Ngawha is completed, it is expected that this
will become a possibility.

As we have reported before, health and safety is a very important issue for both
trustees and for the directors of the Company. It is pleasing to hear that the
directors are confident that these matters are well under control. Trustees do note
with interest, however, the changes in the electricity industry, where the previously
wide spread technique of live line maintenance has been closely reviewed and is now
largely rejected for most maintenance situations. The impact of this change will be
either an increase in cost fo carry out the work or an increase in the loss of supply
minutes consumers experience, and possibly both.



Financial performance of the Trust

The Trust's income is generally from interest received on funds held and a dividend
from the Company.

Interest rates during the year have continued to decline, in line with international
trends. The result is a reduction in interest earned to $43,000, 25% below the
previous year's level.

The dividend received from the Company is calculated to cover the operating costs of
the trust and this year we received an increased amount of $165,000.

The major cost incurred this year by the Trust related to the Ownership Review, which
we are required by the Trust's Deed to carry out every 5 years. This review cost
$55,000 to complete. The result of the review was to confirm that over 95% of
submitters supported continued ownership of the shares in Top Energy Ltd by the
Trust. The next highest rated proposal was to distribute 100% of the shares to
consumers and this had support of 3.5%.

In addition, costs relating to the calling of nominations for new trusfees and the costs
of completing that process, fotalling $7,000, were incurred this year. This process
occurs every other year.

Financial and Service Performance of Top Energy Group

An excellent financial result was produced for the Top Energy Group. Reported
EBITDAF was up 4.3% to $34.1m and lower depreciation and interest costs, together
with a gain on the value of derivatives held, produced a profit after tax of $12.0m.
This is an increase over the profit after tax of $1.7m reported last year.

Non-Network activities generally of the Group did not fare as well as hoped, although
the generation business produced an excellent result. The Contracting Division result
was depressed, reflecting much lower trading activity in the Pacific Islands and a
reducing level of capital works by the Network. These issues resulted ina
restructuring of the resources in the Contracting Division, with a small number of staff
losing their jobs at year end.

The Group's investment in the Ngawha generator was revalued at year end, resulting in
a net $19.6m increase in its carrying value. This increase recognises the extension of
the resource consents held in relation to Ngawha by another 35 years. The Company
has continued fo prepare itself for the expected expansion of generation at Ngawha.
The Company is keeping trustees well informed as to the stages of final resource



consenting, investigation of expected construction costs and the expected profitability
of the new plant.

Communications

The trustees met 10 times during the course of the year under review, to manage the
business of the Trust. In addition, we met with the directors of the Company, as part
of our role as shareholder, for the Annual General Meeting and again as part of the
Ownership Review process. The trustees also meet with the Chairman of Directors and
the Chief Executive to receive regular briefings on the Company's performance and
industry issues.

The Chairs of the Trust and the Company meet regularly fo discuss issues as they arise
and to ensure there are "no surprises”.

As noted last year, we are in discussion with the Board in relation to the expected
request by the Company for approval of a Major Transaction, for the expansion of the
geothermal generator at Ngawha by a further 25MW.

Statement of Corporate Intent (SCI)

The SCI is hegotiated with the directors of the Company, on an annual basis. At the
Company Annual General Meeting in June 2016, trustees agreed performance level
targets for the year ending 31 March 2017. The following summarises the actual
performance achieved by the Group, measured against those targets,

Actual Target Actual
2017 2017 2016
Net Profit After Tax, as a
percentage of average
shareholders funds for:
*The Group 7.4% 7.2% 6.7%
*The Network Business 8.4% 7.7% 6.4%
*The balance of the Group 4.9% 6.3% 75%
The average length of high
voltage outages (including 401 350 462
planned) per customer
excluding Transpower
outages (minutes/pa)

A new SCI has been negotiated with the directors and a copy of this new Statement is
available on the Company's website.



Trust Guidelines

The Trust has adopted guidelines to govern the right of beneficiaries to have access to
certain information. Those guidelines also set out the procedure to be adopted if a
request for information is declined by the Trust. During the year ended 31 March
2017, no requests were made to the Trust for information to which the provisions
apply. Therefore, no costs have been incurred in meeting such requests, nor has there
been any requirement for the Trust to have any decision reviewed and consequently, no
costs have been incurred in relation to this possibility either.

Appointment of Directors

The trustees, acting as shareholder, are responsible for appointing the directors of
Top Energy. In conjunction with the Chairman of Directors, the frustees assess the
requirements of the Company and the performance of individual directors, to
determine what appointments will be made.

At the Company's AGM in June 2016, Murray Bain was appointed as Chairman of the
Top Energy Board. Richard Krogh, James Parsons and Simon Young were re-appointed
to the Board at that same meeting.

Appointment of Trustees

Three trustees retired by rotation at the end of March 2017. A number of
hominations were received, including the three retiring trustees. The Independent
Consultant interviewed the nominees and shortlisted those which he believed fo be the
most appropriate to be considered by the Selection Panel. The Selection Panel
subsequently notified the Trust that Ann Court, Yvonne Sharp and Hugh Ammundsen
were appointed for a 4 year period.

The next publicly notified nomination process will commence late in 2018, fo fill the
positions of the two longest serving trustees.

The Industiry and the future.

There are a number of significant issues confronting the electricity industry generally
and Top Energy, in particular.

In last year's report, we referred to the Electricity Authority's programme to review
the allocation of Transpower charges between all those parties connected to the
national grid. This review has progressed during the year but shortly after financial
year end, the analysis upon which their proposal was based was shown fo be materially
flawed. The detail of the proposed allocation has been withdrawn but there is no
suggestion that their intention to reallocate Transpower's revenue requirement has



ceased. Trustees are working with Top Energy’s directors and management to minimise
the impact of what may be a significant price increase.

The impact of new technologies on demand for the Company's services has been a
subject of extensive debate in recent years. There is considerable uncertainty about
what changes will occur but not all are negative. Solar installations continue to be
connected to the distribution system. Battery technology is advancing rapidly and can
be expected to change the way power is stored and moved across the distribution
system. The rapid deployment of electric vehicles will also create opportunities and
challenges for the Company. Top Energy, along with the rest of the electricity
industry, continues to develop pricing structures designed to respond to these changes.

The most exciting and challenging project in front of the Top Energy Group, at the
moment, is the continued development of the Ngawha generation expansion project.
The desigh and construction costs are being finalised now and the trustees will be
working with the directors to consider a request for a Major Transaction approval.
Provided that the proposal is acceptable, both as to fihancial returns and management
of risks which relate to the project, it is expected that the Major Transaction approval
will be completed and contracts let by the end of the 2017 calendar year. It is hoped
that the new plant will be commissioned in 2020/21.

Yvonne Sharp
Chair



Top Energy Consumer Trust
Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Consolidated Parent
2017 2016 2017 2016
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Operating revenue 4 67,003 62,062 208 173
Operating expenses 5 {33,148) {29.586) {200) (172)
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation,
amortisation and fair value movements of
financial assets (EBITDAF) 33,854 32,466 8 1
Depreciation and amortisation 5 (15,423) (15,827) - -
Finance costs {8.470) {9,154} - -
Eamings before tax and fair value
movements of financial assets (EBTF) 9,961 7,485 8 1
Fair value gains (losses) on financial assets 6 6,410 (5,557) - -
Profit before income tax 16,371 1,828 8 1
Income tax (expense) / benefit 7 {4,5386) 134 - -
Profit from continuing operations 11,835 2,062 8 1
(Loss) from discontinued operations 8 - {478} - -
Profit for the year 11,835 1,586 8 1
Other comprehensive income
items that will not be reclassified to profit
or loss:
Gain on revaluation of generation plant 15 26,474 - - -
Reversal of revaluation surplus on disposal of
revalued assets 15 (1,849} - - -
Income tax refating to revaluation of non-
current assets 7 (6,895) - - -
17.730 - - -
Items that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss:
Changes in fair value of available for sale
financial assets 19 15 47 - -
15 47 - -
Other comprehensive income for the year,
net of tax 17,745 47 - -
Total comprehensive income for the year 29,580 1,633 8 1
Profit is attributable to:
Beneficiaries of the Top Energy Consumer 11.835 1,586
Trust
11.835 1.586
Total comprehensive income for the year is
attributable to:
Beneficiaries of the Top Energy Consumer 29.580 1.633
Trust
29.580 1,633

The above sfatement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of financial position
As at 31 March 2017

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories

Current tax benefit

Intangible assets

Derivative financial instruments
Total current assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equiprnent
Investment properties

Intangible assets

Biological assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
Derivative financial instruments
Investments in subsidiaries

Total non-current assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
[nterest bearing liabilities
Current tax liabilities

Derivative financial instruments
Provisions

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Interest bearing liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities
Net assets

BENEFICIARIES' EQUITY
Settfors' capital

Reserves

Retained earnings

Total beneficiaries’ equity

Notes

10
11
12

14

27

28

Top Energy Consumer Trust
Statement of financial position
As at 31 March 2017

Consolidated Parent
2017 2016 2017 2016
3000 $'000 $'000 $'000
85 151 2 117
7,579 7,404 1,578 1,470
38 426 - -
101 211 - -
158 800 - -
1,529 - - -
9.430 8,992 1,580 1,587
384,954 359,956 - -
380 462 - -
9,770 6,579 - -
1,138 546 . -
718 597 - -
363 - - -
- - 25,267 25,267
397,324 368,140 25,267 25 267
406, 814 377.132 26.847 26,854
9,018 7,847 957 972
- 122 - -
686 340 - -
404 3,267 - -
478 456 - -
10,586 12,032 957 972
143,760 149,610 - -
9,356 11,006 - -
50.241 41,293 - -
203,457 201,909 - -
214,043 213,941 957 72
192,771 163,191 25,890 25.882
67,212 49,467 - -
125,559 113,724 25,890 25,882
192.771 163,191 25.880 25,882

The above staternent of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Consolidated

Balance at 1 April 2016

Comprehensive income

Profit for the year

Gain on revaluation of generation plant
Reversal of revaluation surplus on disposal of
revalued assets

Fair value gain on available-for-sale financial
assets, net of tax

Income fax refating to components of other
comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

Balance as at 31 March 2017

Balance as at 1 April 2015

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year

Fair value gain (loss) on available-for-sale financial

assets, net of tax
Depreciation on revalued assets transferred to
retained earnings

Total comprehensive income

Balance as at 31 March 2016

Parent

Balance at 1 April 20186

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income

Balance as at 31 March 2017

Balance at 1 April 2015

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income

Balance as at 31 March 2016

Notes

15
15

19

19

28

Top Energy Consumer Trust

Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Settlors’ Retained .
capital Reserves earnings Total equity
$'000 $'0e0 $'000 $'000
- 49,467 113,724 163,191
- - 11,835 11,835
- 26,474 - 26,474
- (1,848} - {1,849)
- 15 - 15
- (6,895} - {6.895)
- 17,745 11,835 29.580
- 67,212 125,558 192,771
- 51,908 109,650 161,558
. - 1,586 1,586
- 47 - 47
- (2,488} 2,488 -
- (2,441) 4.074 1,633
- 49 467 113.724 163,191
Setthrs' Retained Total equity
capital earnings
$'000 $'000 $'000
- 25,882 25,882
- 8 8
- 8 8
- 25890 25880
- 25,881 25,881
- 1 1
- 1 1
- 25882 25882

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Notes

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers and employees

Interest received

Interest paid

Income taxes paid

Net cash inflow / {outflow) from operating
activities 37

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from saie of property, plant and
equipment

Disposals of biclogical assets

Purchases of investment properties
Purchases of available-for-sale financial assets
Purchases of Emission Trading Scheme units
Dividends received

Repayment {increase) of loans to related
parties

Net cash inflow / {outfiow) from investing
activities

Cash flows from financing activities
{Repayments of) proceeds from borrowings
Payment of unclaimed dividend

Net cash inflow / (outflow) from financing
activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash halances
Cash at bank and on hand at the beginning of
the financial year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 9

Top Energy Consumer Trust
Cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Consolidated Parent

2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
66,628 64,543 - -
{30,418) (35,369) (215) (146)
36,210 29,174 (215) {146}
3 i7 43 58
{8,470) (9,140} - -
{1,926) {1,848) - -
25,817 18.203 (172) (88)
(19,963) (25,4686) - -
43 2,564 “ -

116 - - -

- (87) - -

(107) (118) - -

- (1,878) - -

- - 165 115

- - {108} 86

{19.911}) (24.985) 57 201
(5,850} 6,835 - -
- (1) - (1
{5.850) 5,834 - {1)
56 52 {115) 112

29 (23) 117 5

85 29 2 117

The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Top Energy Consumer Trust
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017

1 General information

The Top Energy Consumer Trust (the Trust) was established under the terms of a trust deed dated 23 April 1983. The
Trust was previously called the Bay of Islands Electric Power Trust. The name was changed on 10 July 2002 to the Top

. Energy Consumer Trust. The Trust holds the entire share capitat of Top Energy Ltd on behalf of the power consumers
within the network area served by Top Energy Lid.

Top Energy Ltd provides electricity line function, electrical construction and other services. Top Energy Lid and is
subsidiaries (the Top Energy Ltd Group) operate geothermal power stations and provide other goods and services to
customers principally in New Zealand.

Top Energy Ltd is a limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in New Zealtand.

These financial statements were approved by the Trustees of the Trust on 27 June 2017.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, uniess otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

Statutory base

The Trust is required under the terms of its Trust Deed to prepare financial statements that accord with New Zealand
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (NZ GAAP).

The financial statements of Top Energy Ltd and its subsidiaries, which have been consolidated into the Trust's group
financial siatements, have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Reporting Act 2013, the
Companies Act 1993 and the Energy Companies Act 1992.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP. They comply with New Zealand
equivalents to international Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS), and other applicable New Zealand Financial
Reporting Standards, as appropriate for profit-oriented entities that fall within the Tier 1 for-profit category.

Entities reporting
The financial statements for the 'Parent’ are for the Top Energy Consumer Trust as a separate legal entity.

The consolidated financial statements for the 'Group’ are for the economic entity comprising the Top Energy Consumer
Trust and all its subsidiary companies.

The Parent and the Group are designated as profit-oriented entities as defined in External Reporting Board Standard A1:
Application of the Accounting Standards Framework.

Historic cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historic cost convention, as modified by the following:

. the revaluation of financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) and investment properties,
which are adjusted to fair value through profit or loss; and

. the revaluation of cerfain classes of property, plant and equipment and available-for-sale financial assets, which
are adjusted {o fair value through other comprehensive income.

Comparative figures

To ensure consistency with the current period, comparative figures have been restated where appropriate in accordance
with NZ IFRS requirements. There have been no material restatements in these financial statements in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2016.

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each Group entity's operations are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which it operates (‘the functional currency'). These financial statements are presented in
New Zealand dollars, which is the parent entity's functional and presentation currency.

-12-



Top Energy Consumer Trust
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017
{continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

All financial information has been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

{b) Accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the fulure. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are described in the relevant
accounting policies or notes, as appropriate.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
future events, the expected outcomes of which, are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(c) Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of the Top Energy Consumer
Trust (the 'Trust’ or 'parent entity') as at 31 March 2017 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Top
Energy L.td and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the Top Energy Group.

Subsidiaries are those entities over which the Trust has, because of its ownership of Top Energy Ltd, the power to govern
the financial and operating policies. The Group centrols an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity,

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated
from the date when control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed
at the date of exchange. Costs directly attributable to the acquisition are expensed. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value
of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the profit or loss
component of the statement of comprehensive income.

inter-entily transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between group entities are eliminated
on consolidation. If applicable, amounts reported by subsidiaries are adjusted to ensure consistency with the Group's
accounting policies.

{d) Available for sale investments

Available-for-sale investments, comprising marketable equity securities, are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs. After initial recognition, available-for-sale investments are carried at fair value.

All of the Group's available for sale investments are traded in active markets and accordingly, fair value is determined by
reference to Stock Exchange quoted bid prices.

Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised through other comprehensive income.
When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
equity is recognised in the profit or loss component of the statement of comprehensive income.

Avaijlable-for-sale investments are classified as non current assets, unless they are expected to be realised within twelve
months of the reporting date.
{e) Biological assets

The Group's biological assets comprise a quantity of trees, which are carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value less costs fo sell.

-13-



Top Energy Consumer Trust
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017
(continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is
required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss component of the statement of comprehensive Income, in the
period in which they are incurred.
(g} Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash an hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, and bank overdrafts.
These items are readily convertible with known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value.

Bank overdrafts are included within the total of interest bearing liabilities, in current liabilities, in the statement of financial
position.
(h) Contract work in progress

Contract work in progress is staled at the aggregate of contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses and progress billings. Cost includes all expenses directly related to specific contracts and an allocation
of general overhead expenses incurred by the relevant Group company's contracting operations.

(i} Derivatives

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-
measured to their fair value. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss, as the Group has decided not to
apply hedge accounting.

(j) Distributions to beneficiaries

Provision is made for the amount of any distribution declared on or before the end of the financial year but not paid at
balance date.

Distributions {o the Trust's beneficlaries are recognised as a liabiiity in the Trust's and the Group's financial statements in
the accounting period in which the distribution is declared by the Trustees.

{k} Employee benefits

()  Wages and salaries and annual leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expecled to be settled within 12
months of the reporting date, are recognised in other payables in respect of employees' services up to the reporting date
and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

(i) Long service gratuity

The liability for retirement gratuity payments due to eligible long-serving employees is recognised in the provision for
employee benefils and measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services
provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels and
experience of employee departures. Expected future payments are discounted to present value using the rate on New
Zealand government bonds.

{ifi) Refirement benefit obligations

The Group makes contributions to defined contribution pension schemes on behalf of some employees. The Group's legal
or constructive obligation is limited to these contributions. Confributions are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service enfitling them to the contributions.

-14-



Top Energy Consumer Trust
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017
(confinued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(I} Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for
disclosure purposes.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and frading and
available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. The quoted market price used for
financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price; the appropriate quoted market price for financial liabilities is the
current ask price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on
market conditions existing at each reporting date. Quoted market prices or deater quotes for similar insiruments are used
for long-term debt instruments held. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine
fair value for the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of interest-rate swaps and electricity Contract for
Differences are calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows. The fair value of forward exchange
contracts is determined using forward exchange market rates at the reporting date.

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate to
their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

{m) Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency fransactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rales prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised
in the profit or loss component of the statement of comprehensive income.

{n) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

The statement of comprehensive income and itemns in the statement of financial position are stated net of GST, with the
exception of receivables and payables, which include GST invoiced,

(o) Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment irrespective of whether any circumstances identifying a possible impairment have been identified.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash
generating units).

(p) Income tax

The tax expense or benefit for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in items of other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, as
applicable.

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the total of the current period's taxable income based on the national
income fax rate for each jurisdiction plus/minus any prior years' underfover provisions, plus/minus movements in the
deferred tax balance, except where the movement in deferred tax is attributable to a movement in reserves.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if
they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have

been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
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Top Energy Consumer Trust
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017
{continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(p) Income tax {continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not offset within the Group as there is currently no legally enforceabile right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities.

(q) Intangible assets

(i} Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable
assets of the acquired business or entity at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of businesses and
subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill acquired in business combinations is not amortised. Instead, itis
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Geoodwill is carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of
goodwill relating to the entity disposed of.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the Cash
Generating Units (CGUs), or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit
or group of units {o which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is
monitored for inlernal management purposes.

(ify  Computer software
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives (typically, three years).

(iii) Emission Trading Scheme assets
Carbon emission units are recognised at their initial cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, carbon emission units are allocated to the cash generating unit {o which they relate.

The carrying value of the units are allocated between current and non-current intangible assets. The basis of allocation is
that the carrying value of units that will be surrendered at 31 May immediately following the reporiing date {i.e. those
covered by the annual declaration to the previous 31 December) are {reated as current assets. The carrying value of all
other units is treated as a non-current intangible asset.

(iv) Easements
Easements are perpetual rights over land owned by others. The Group obtains easements in order {o protect access ta its
network assets where these are sited on or pass over privately owned land.

Easements are deemed to have an indefinite usefut life as the Grants do not have a maturity date and the Group expects
to use and have benefit from each easement indefinitely. Therefore the Group does not amortise the cost of easements
acquired. The Group reviews the carrying value of easements annually for impairment, and writes down the carrying value
if any are found to be impaired.

(r) Interest bearing liabilities

Interest bearing liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and are subsequently
carried at amortised cost.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the relevant Group company has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

(s) Inventories

Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of weighted average cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed
overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated cosis
necessary to make the sale.
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Top Energy Consumer Trust
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
(continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

{t) Investment property

The Group has acquired a small number of investment properties which do not currently contribute to the Group's activities
and are let to third parties to defray costs.

Investment property is measured initially at cost, including transaction costs, Investment property is carried at fair value,
which is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the
specific asset. The Group obtains regutar open market valuations of the investment properties from suitably qualified
independent valuers. Changes in fair values are recorded in the statement of comprehensive income within profit or loss
as a constituent of fair value gains or losses on financial assets in the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised on disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expacted from disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the property is included
in profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

(u} Investments and other financial assets
Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets into the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss; loans and
receivables; and available for sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were
acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

() Financial assets af fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in
this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for
trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if they are expected
to be settled within 12 months, otherwise they are classified as non-current.

(i)  Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets.

(i} Available for sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of
the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless the investment matures or management intends to
dispose of it within 12 months of the end of the reporting period.

Recognition and measurement

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date — the date on which the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets
not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially
recognised at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the profit and loss component of the statement of
comprehensive income. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets al fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair
value.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss' category
are presented in the profit and loss component of the statement of comprehensive income within ‘other (losses)/gains -
net' in the period in which they arise. Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised in the profit and loss component of the statement of comprehensive income as part of other income when the
Group's right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary securities cltassified as available for sale are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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Top Energy Consumer Trust
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017
(continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

{u) Investments and other financial assets {continued)

When securities classified as available for sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in
equity are included in the profit and loss component of the statement of comprehensive income as ‘gains and losses from
investment securities’.

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the profit and loss component of the statement of
comprehensive income as part of other income when the Group's right to receive payments is established.

Impairment of financial instruments
(i)  Assets carried at amorlised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred aiter the initial
recognition of the asset (a 'loss event') and that loss event {or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation, and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For the loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows {excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the
amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement. If a loan or held-to-maturity investment has a
variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined
under the coniract. As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument's fair
value, using an observable market price.

if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be refated objectively to an
evenl occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor's credit rating), the reversal of
the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

(i}  Assels classified as available for sale

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is also evidence that the assets are impaired. If any such
evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit
or loss — is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss,

{v) Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases {net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to
the profit or loss component of the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

{w) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment, including the distribution nefwork

Except for generation assets, all property, plant and equipment is shown at cost, less subsequent depreciation. Cost
includes the amounts of revaluation surpluses that arose prior to the Group's transition to NZ IFRS and which were treated
as deemed cost at the date of transition.

Generation assefs

Effective 31 March 2014, the Group has accounted for its generation assets at fair value. Valuations are undertaken at
sufficiently regular intervals so that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which would be determined
using fair value at the end of the reporiing period.

Additions made subsequent to a periodic revaluation are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation until the date of the
next revaluation of the asset class, at which point they are included in the updated valuation total.

A periodic revaluation of the generation assets was undertaken as at 31 March 2017 and the resulling values have been
incorporated into these financial statements.

Cther property, plant and equipment

All other property, plant and equipment is stated at historic cost less depreciation. Cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when itis probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Depreciation
Land is not depreciated.

Fit-outs to leasehold buildings are depreciated on the straight line basis over the term of the underlying lease. Itis
assumed that leases will terminate at their next renewal date unless management has already planned to extend the lease
beyond that date, in which case the term for depreciation purposes runs to the intended termination date.

Depreciation on other assets is calculated using either the straight line or diminishing value methods to allocate their cost,
net of their residual value, over their estimated usefu] life, as follows;

Straight Line basis Years
Distribution system 15-60
Generation plant 5-50
Resource consents 35-41
Plant and equipment 3-20
Freehold buildings 50
Freehald building fit-outs 5-10
Diminishing Value basis Rate
Motor vehicles 20%

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in
the profit or loss component of the statement of comprehensive income.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

{x} Provisions

Provisions are recognised when all of the following conditions are met: the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and
the amount has heen reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

{y) Revenue reccgnition

Revenue comprises the fair value for the sale of goods and services, net of Goods and Services Tax, rebates and
discounts and after eliminating all material transactions between members of the Group on consolidation. Revenue is
recognised as follows;

(i)  Electricity line and generation revenue

Electricity line revenue is recognised in profit or loss on the basis of amounts received and receivabie by the Parent for line
function services supplied to customers in the ordinary course of business. Electricity line revenue is based on actual and
assessed meter readings and includes an allowance for unread meters at the reporting date.

Electricity generation income is recognised as electricity is generated and sold.

Critical judgements in applying this accounting policy

Part of the network charges are based on normalisation, where consumption is estimated by the retailers who supply the
consumer, to the end of the billing period based on historical actual electricity usage. Occasionally, historical electricity
usage data is not consistent and subsequent adjustments are made. These adjustmenis are immaterial compared with
total network revenue.

(i} Sales of services and other revenue

Sales of services are recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered, by reference to completion
of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actuatl service provided as a proportion of the total services to be
provided. Other revenue is generally recognised in the accounting period in which it arises. Typically this will be on
completion of the underlying transaction.

(i)  Capital confributions

Funds received from customers, as a contribution towards the cost of uneconomic supply facilities, are recognised in profit
or loss as soon as any obligations attaching to the contributions have been met. For contributions that are refundable,
there is a period of 5 years from the date of receipt (10 years for contributions received prior to 1 September 2011} within
which a part or all of the contribution may be refunded to the customer.

(iv} Contracting revenue

Contract revenue and expenses are recognised in accordance with the percentage of completion method unless the
outcome of the contract cannot be reliably estimated. Where it is probable that a loss will arise from a contract, the excess
of total costs over revenue is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where the outcome of a contract cannot be reliably estimated, contract costs are recognised as an expense as incurred,
and where it is probable that the costs will be recovered, revenue is recognised to the extent of costs incurred.

For fixed price contracts, the stage of completion is measured by reference to costs incurred to date as a percentage of
estimated total contract costs for each contract. Revenue from "cost plus" contracts is recognised by reference o the
recoverable costs incurred during the reporting period plus the percentage of revenue earned. The percentage of revenue
earned is measured by the proportion that costs incurred to date bear to the estimated total costs of the contract.

Critical judgements in applying this accounting policy

Use of the percentage-of-completion method requires the Group to estimate the total cost of the contracts in order to
determine the proportion of costs to date to the total costs, which it uses as an approximation of the percentage
completed.

(v} Farming income

The Group's entire output of milk is sold under a rolling contract to Fonterra Co-operative Group Lid ("Fonterra"). Sales
are accounted for on the basis of the component elements of the milk collected by Fonierra from the Group's property.
Fonterra issues a self-billing invoice for milk collected each calendar month. The Group accrues for any further income
receivable based on the difference between the latest indicative price for milk solids published by Fonterra for the season
and the lower interim price which Fonterra applies in its monthly self-billing invoices and which Fonterra subsequently
adjusts.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

{z) Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior te the end of the accounting period
and which are unpaid at that date.

Provisions for the Group's obligations under the New Zealand Emissions Trading Scheme are recognised when the
Group's liability is incurred under Scheme regulations. The liability is calculated in accordance with the prescribed
regulations and is recognised at the cost value of the emission uni{s acquired to meet the obligation.

Carbon emission units are surrendered on a first-in first-out basis.

(aa) Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services supplied or goods sold in the ordinary course of business.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written
off. A provision for doubtful receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to
collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the value of estimated future cash flows. The amount of the provision, plus any
subsequent recovery of amounts previously writien off, are recognised in the profit or loss component of the statement of
comprehensive income within 'other expenses'.

{ab) Changes in accounting policies

All accounting policies have been applied on a basis consistent with those applied during the prior year,

{ac) Adoption status of relevant new financial reporting standards and interpretations
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that came into effect during the reporting year

All mandatory Standards, Amendments and Interpretations have been adopted in the current accounting period. None
has had a material impact on these financial statements.

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group

There are a number of Standards, Amendments and Interpretations which have been approved. The Group expects to
adopt these when they become mandatory.

The Group is currently reviewing the implications of NZ IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and NZ IFRS 16
Leases. None of the other recently approved Standards, Interpretations and Amendments are expected to result in a
matertal Impact on the Group's financial statements. The application dates of those standards are for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 (NZ IFRS 15} and 1 January 2019 (NZ IFRS 16).
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3 Financial risk management

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value inferest rate
risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's averall risk management program
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial
performance of the Group. The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward foreign exchange contracts,
interest rate swaps and electricity contract for differences (CFDs) to hedge certain risk exposures. The Group uses
different methods to measure different fypes of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in
the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks and aging analysis for credit risk.

The Group's primary financial risks are within the Top Energy Group rather than the Parent. Risk management is carried
out by senior management under policles approved by Top Energy Limited's Board of Directors. Management identifies
and evaluates relevant financial risks and acts to maintain these where possible within the parameters set out by the
Board of Directors. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering speciic
areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-
derivative financial instruments, and investment of excess liquidity.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities that are
denominated in a currency that is not the entity's functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and
cash flow forecasting.

The Group had entered inte forward foreign exchange contracts at 1 April 2015 to acquire US$500,000. These contracts
matured during the year ended 31 March 2016 and were settled as they fell due.

The Group has not entered into any new forward foreign exchange contracts during the years ended 31 March 2017 and
2016.

(i) Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk. This arises from an investment in Fonterra Co-operative Group L.td
shares held by the Group and classified in the statement of financial position as available for sale.

(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group's main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Throughout the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016, the Group’s borrowings at
variable rate were denominated in New Zealand dollars.

The Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk by using floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps. Such interest rate swaps
have the economic effect of converting borrowings from floating rates lo fixed rates. Generally, the Group raises long term
borrowings at floating rates and swaps them into fixed rates that are lower than those available if the Group borrowed at
fixed rates directly. Under the interest rate swaps, the Group agrees with other parties to exchange, at specified intervals
(mainly quarterly), the difference between fixed contract rates and floaling-rate interest amounts, calculated by reference
to the agreed notional principal amounts.

Interest rate risk arises in respect of the portion of the Group's borrowings that is not covered by interast rate swaps. The
element of Group borrowings at the reporting dates presented in these financial statements is sufficiently small such that, if
interest rates had changed by +/- 1% (=100bp) from the average period rate of 2.9% {2016: 3.8%) with all other variables
held constant, the effect on post-tax profit for the year in respect of that element of total borrowings would have been
immaterial.

If the above sensitivity calculation were applied to the total of interest rate swaps entered into by the Group at the reporting
date, the effect of a change of +/- 1% (=100bp} in the floating rate element of those swaps would result in an increase /
reduction in the fair value derivative gain recognised at the reporting date of +$5,615,000/ -$6,022,000 respectively (2016:
+$6,744,000 / -$7,238,000).

(iv) Energy rnarket risk

The Group has entered into a Power Purchase Agreement (PPA), to become effective from 1 July 2017, to sell 100% of
the electricity generated from the Ngawha plant. Under the PPA, physical ownership of the energy will be transferred from
Ngawha Generation Lid to the counterparty. In return, 100% of the generation spot revenue will be paid to Ngawha
Generation L.td along with the settlement amount of any hedges. The hedges are in the form of eleciricity Contract For
Differences {CFDs), which have been accounted for separately as derivatives.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Creditrisk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial
instruments and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers, including
outstanding receivables and committed transactions. For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated parties
with a minimum Standard & Poor's credit rating of ‘A’ (or equivalent) are accepted. If customers are independently rated,
these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, management assesses the credit quality of the
customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and any other relevant factors. Individual risk limits
are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the Board. Customers' credit limits are
regularly monitored by management.

Two customers comprised 47% of the Group’s total frade accounts receivable as at 31 March 2017 (2016: 52% of the
Group's total frade accounts receivable). Subsequent to the reporting dates, the amounts then due were cleared. The
Group does not expect the non-performance of any material obligations as at the reporting date.

Credit risk arises from the potential faiiure of counterparties to meet their obligations under the respective contracts at
maturity. This arises on derivative financial instruments with unrealised gains. At 31 March 2017 there were unrealised
gains on interest rate swaps totalling $81,000 (20186: $nil) and unrealised gains on electricity CFDs totalling $1,811,000
(2016: $nil).

The Group undertakes all of its transactions in foreign exchange and interest rate contracts with trading banks that are
registered with the Reserve Bank of New Zealand.
(¢) Liguidity risk

Prudent liguidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate
amount of committed credit facilities. Due to the dynamie nature of the underlying businesses, the Group's management
aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity requirements on the basis of expected cash flow.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities, excluding derivative financial instruments (which are shown
separately), into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporiing date to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows and include interest to
maturity.

Less than 1 Between 1 and Between 2 and

year 2 years 5years  Over 5vyears

At 31 March 2017 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000
Group

Bank overdraits and loans 3,845 33,722 90,339 29,016
Trade and other payables 9,018 - - -
Parent
Trade and other payables 957 - - -
At 31 March 2016

Group

Bank overdrafts and loans 4 811 34,127 84,716 36,094
Trade and other payables 7,847 - - -
Parent
Trade and other payables 972 - - -
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

The table below analyses the Group's derivalive financial instruments that will be setiled on a net basis info relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. For the purposes of calculating the undiscounted
contractual cashflows on the interest rate swaps, it has been assumed ihat the base rate driving the floating portion will
remain the same throughout the term of each contract.

Lessthan 1 Between 1 Between2 Over 5
year and 2 years and 5 years years
$'000 3000 $'0c00 $'000
At 31 March 2017
Interest rate swaps - heid for trading
- inflow - - - -
- outflow {4,534) (3,594) (7,107) (3,374)
Electricity CFDs - held for {rading
- inflow 1,529 278 4 -
- ouiflow - - - -
At 31 March 2016
Interest rate swaps - held for trading
- inflow - - - -
- outflow (3,868) (3.604) (7,093} (3.728)

Cash flow forecasting is performed in aggregate by the Top Energy Group. The Group monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group’s liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs whilst maintaining sufficient
headroom on its undrawn commitied borrowing facilities at all times, so that the Group does not breach its borrowing limits
or covenants (as applicabie) on any of its borrowing facilities. Such forecasting takes into consideration the Group's debt
financing plans, covenant compliance, compliance with internal balance sheet ratio targets and, where applicable, external
regulatory or legal requirements (for example, currency restrictions).

-24-



Top Energy Consumer Trust
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017
(continued)

3 Financial risk management (continued)

(d) Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counier derivatives) is
determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on
market conditions existing at the relevant reporting date. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments
are used as the basis for valuing interest rate swaps, electricity CFDs and forward foreign exchange confracts. Additional
credit and debit value adjustments are made to the market prices in order to arrive at fair values as defined by NZ IFRS 13
Fair Value Measurement. The Group employs specialist independent valuers to calculate these valuations.

The carrying value, less impairment provision, of trade receivables and payables is a reasonable approximation of their fair
values due to the short-term nature of trade receivables. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group
for similar financial instruments.

The Group applies the provisions of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures for financial instruments that are measured
in the statement of financial position at fair value. This requires disclosure of fair value measurements by ievel of the
following fair value measurement hierarchy:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities {Level 1)

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly {that is,
as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2).

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based cn observable market data (that is, unobservabie inpuis) (Level 3).

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date.
The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are
included in level 1. Instruments included in level 1 comprise equity investments quoted on a recognised stock exchange
that are classified as trading securities or available-for-sale.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as litile as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.
Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:
- Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.

- The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows based on
observable yield curves.

- The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange rates at the reporting date,
with the resulting value discounted back to present value,

.25



Top Energy Consumer Trust
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017
(continued)

3 Financial risk management (continued)

The following table presents the Group's and Parent's assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value. Refer to note
14 for disclosures of generation plant that is measured at fair value.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total balance

. $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Consolidated - At 31 March 2017
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
— Trading derivatives - interest rate swaps - 81 - 81
— Trading derivatives - electricily CFDs - 1,811 - 1,811
— Biological assets - 1,138 - 1,138
- Investment properties - 380 - 380
Available-for-sale financial assets
- Equity securities 719 - - 719
Total assets 719 3,410 - 4129
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
— Trading derivatives - interest rate swaps - 9.760 - 9.760
Totat liabilities - 9.760 - 9.760
At 31 March 2016
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
— Biological assets - 546 - 546
~ Investment properties - 462 - 462
Available-for-sale financial assets
- Equity securities 597 - - 597
Total assets 597 1.008 - 1,605
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
— Trading derivatives - interest rate swaps - 14,273 - 14,273
Total liabilities - 14,273 - 14,273

Parent - At 31 March 2017 and 2016
Assets - None

Liabilities - None

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during the above years.
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(continued)
3 Financial risk management (continued)
{e) Financial instruments by category
Assets at fair Available for
value sale
Loans and through financial
Financial assets as per balance sheet receivables profit or loss assets Other Total
$'000 $'000 $°000 $'000 $000
Consolidated
At 31 March 2017
Available for sale financial assets - - 719 - 719
Derjvative financial instruments - electricity CFDs - 1,811 - - 1,811
Derivative financial instruments - interest rate
swaps - 81 - - 81
Trade and other receivables 6,809 - - - 6,809
Other financial assets - - - 2,387 2,387
Cash and cash equivalents 85 - - - 85
6,894 1,892 719 2,387 11,892
At 31 March 2016
Available for sale financial assets - - 597 - 597
Trade and other receivables 6,642 - - - 6,642
Other financial assets - - - 2678 2,678
Cash and cash equivalents 151 - - - 151
6,793 - 597 2,678 10,068
Loans and
Financial assets as per balance sheet receivables Total
$'000 $'000
Parent
At 31 March 2017
Trade and other receivables 1,576 1,576
Cash and cash equivalents 2 2
1,578 1578
At 31 March 2016
Trade and other receivables 1,468 1,468
Cash and cash equivalents 117 117
1,585 1,585
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3 Financial risk management {continued)

Financial liabilities as per balance sheet

Consolidated

At 31 March 2017

Borrowings

Derivative financial instruments - interest rate swaps
Trade and other payables

At 31 March 2016

Borrowings

Derivative financial instruments - interest rate swaps
Trade and other payables

Parent

At 31 March 2017
Trade and other payables

At 31 March 2016
Trade and other payables
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(continued)

Financial
liabilities at Financial
fair value liabilities at
through  amortised

profit or loss cost Total
$'000 $'000 $000

- 143,760 143,760
9,760 - 8,760
- 6.587 6,587

9,760 150,347 160,107
- 149,732 149,732
14,273 - 14,273
- 5,186 5.186

14,273 154,918 169 191
- 939 939

- 939 939

- 954 954

- 954 954




Top Energy Consumer Trust
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017

(continued)
4 Revenue
Consolidated Parent

2017 2016 2017 2016

$'000 $'000 $°000 $'000
From continuing operations
Electricity line revenue 45,128 41,765 - -
Capital contributions 1,017 1,528 - -
Electricity sales 14,968 14,183 - -
Contracting services 3,687 4,11 - -
Farming income 1,857 243 - -
Interest - - 43 58
Dividends - - 165 115
Other revenue 346 222 - -
Total revenue from continuing operations 67,003 62,052 208 173

Discontinued operations

Details of revenue from discontinued operations, comprising the call centre operations of Phone Plus 2000 Ltd during the
year ended 31 March 2016, are included in the disclosures at note 8.
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5 Expenses

Expenses, excluding depreciation, amortisation and

finance costs, included in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income classified by nature
Raw materials and consumables used
Employee benefils expense

Other expenses

Transmission charges

Profit before income tax includes the following
specific expenses:

Depreciation

Distribution system
Generation plant

Resource consents

Plant and equipment
Vehicles

Buildings

Impairment charge - buildings
Total depreciation

Amortisation
Software
Total amortisation

Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment

Net loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Rental expense relating to operating leases
Minimum lease paymenis

Employee benefits expense

Wages and salaries, including restructuring costs and

termination benefits
ACC levies and employee medical insurance
Pension costs - defined contribution plans

Top Energy Consumer Trust
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017
(continued)

Consolidated Parent
2017 2016 2017 2016
$°000 $'000 $'000 $'000
3,027 3,328 - -
14,879 13,864 - -
10,039 7,643 200 172
5,204 4,751 - -
33,149 29.586 200 172
7,278 7,139 - -
6,361 6,464 - -
167 - - -
705 830 - -
663 769 - -
109 157 - -
- 2 - -
15,283 15,361 - -
140 466 - -
140 466 - -
15,423 15,827 - ~
1,371 279 - -
1,018 785 - -
14,206 13,023 - -
274 450 - -
399 381 - -
14,879 13.864 - -

ltemns reporied in this note exclude the expenses of discontinued operations.
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{continued)

5 Expenses (continued)
Auditors’ fees

The Top Energy Group is audited by Deloitte Limited, who are acting on behalf of the Auditor-General. The following fees
were paid or payable for services provided by the respective appointed auditors of the Group and their related practices:

Consolidated Parent
2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Audit services

Grant Thornton New Zealand Audit Partnership

Audit of the financial statements of the Top Energy

Consumer Trust Group 18 18 18 18
Deloitte Limited New Zealand

Audit of the financial staterments of the Top Energy L.td

Group 125 128 - -
Total remuneration for audit services 143 146 18 18

Other services

Other assurance services
Deloitte Limited New Zealand for services to the Top

Energy Ltd Group:

Audit of regulatory statements 58 57 - -
Audit of Unique Emissions Factor 15 - - -
Total remuneration for other assurance services 73 57 - -
Total remuneration for assurance services 216 203 18 18

6 Fair value gains / (losses) on financial assets

Consolidated Parent
2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $000
Net gain (loss) on interest rate swaps 4,594 (5,569) - -
Net gain on electricity Contract For Differences 1,811 - - -
Net gain on foreign exchange forward confracts - 2 - -
Fair value gains on investment property 5 10
6.410 {5.557) - -

{a) Revaluations of investment property

The investment properties were revalued as at 31 March 2017 and 2016.
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7 iIncome tax expense

{a} Income tax expense

Current tax

Current tax on profits for the year
Adjustments in respect of prior years

Total current tax

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences
Exclude; element arising on fixed asset revaluation
Under (over) provided in prior years

Total deferred tax

Income tax expense / (benefit)

income tax expense is attributable to:
Profit (foss) from continuing operations
L.oss from discontinued operations

Aggregate income fax expense

Deferred income tax expense {benefit) included in

income tax expense comprises:

Increase (decrease) in deferred tax liabilities (note 25)

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense
to prima facie tax payable

Profit from continuing operations before income tax

expense

Loss from discontinued operations before income tax

expense

Tax at the New Zealand tax rate of 28% (2016: 28%)

{Parent: 33% for both periods)

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible {taxable)

in calculating taxable income:
Non-deductible expenditure
income not subject to tax

Other reconciling items

Adjustment on disposal of subsidiary
Adjustment in respect of prior years

Tax losses utilised
Other
Income tax expense / (benefit)

Top Energy Consumer Trust

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017

(continued)

Consolidated Parent

2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'o00 $'000 $'000
2,252 1,284 - -
131 {221) - -
2,383 1,063 - -
9,054 {1,420) - -
{6,895) - - -
(6) 39 - -
2,153 {1.381) - -
4,536 {318) - .
4,536 (134) - -
- (184) - -
4.536 (318) - -
2,153 (1,381) - -
2,153 {1.381) - -
16,371 1,928 8 1
- (660) - -
16,371 1,268 g 1
4,584 3556 3 -
69 188 - -
(239) (396) “ -

- (279) - -

125 (182) - -
(3) - (3) -

- {4} - -
4.536 (318) - -
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7 Income tax expense (continued)

(c) Tax (charge) credit relating to components of other comprehensive income
The tax (charge) credit relating to components of other comprehensive income is as follows:

Tax (expense)

Before tax ! benefit After tax
$'000 $'000 $'a00

Consolidated only
31 March 2017
Revaluation of generation plant 26,474 (7,413) 19,061
Reversal of revaluation surplus on disposal of revalued assets (1,849) 518 (1,331)
Currency translationdifferences 15 - 15
Other comprehensive income 24,640 (6,895) 17,745
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{continued)

8 Discontinued operations

(&) Summary of discontinued operations
Effective 31 March 2016 the Group sold its 100% sharehalding in Phone Plus 2000 Ltd.

Whilst it was owned by the Group, Phone Plus 2000 Ltd operated a call centre service business. The Top Energy Lid
directors decided to dispose of the company in order for the Group to concentrate on its core business activities.

On 10 March 2017 a subsidiary company, Ngawha Spa Lid, was amalgamated inlo Top Energy Ltd. Ngawha Spa Ltd had
been a non-trading company since it was formed on 28 Oclober 2015. There was no financial effect of this amalgamation.
{b) Financial performance and cash flow information - Disposal of Phone Plus 2000 Ltd

The trading result of Phone Plus 2000 Ltd has been included in the Group's statement of comprehensive income.
Additional detail is provided below. The figures reported for 2016 relate to the 12 months ended on 31 March 2016, the
disposal date.

Consolidated Parent

2047 2016 2017 2016

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Summarised statement of comprehensive income
Revenue - 2,434 - -
Expenses - {3.094) - -
Loss before income tax - (660) - -
Income tax benefit - 184 - -
L.oss after income tax of discontinued operations - (4786) - -
Summarised statement of cash flows
Net cash (outflow) from operating activities - (83) - -
Net cash inflow from investing activities “ 4 - -
Net cash inflow from financing activities - 90 - -
Total cash flows - 11 - -

{c) Carrying amounts of assets and liabilities at the reporting date - Phone Plus 2000 Ltd

The carrying amounts of Phone Plus 2000 Ltd's assets and liabilities at 31 March 2016 have been excluded from the
statement of financial position as reported in these financial statements.

The carrying amounts of that company's net assets on its disposal on 31 March 2016 were as follows:

Assets

Property, plant and equipment - 144 - -
Intangible assets - 2 - -
Deferred tax asset - 45 - -
Other current assels - 22 - -
Total assets - 213 - -
Liabilities

Trade and other payables - 55 - -
Total liabilities - 55 - -

Shareholders’ equity

Conftributed equity - 2,893 - -
Retained earnings - (2. 735) - -
Net equity - 158 - _
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9 Current assets - Cash at bank and on hand

Top Energy Consumer Trust
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017
{continued)

Consolidated Parent
2017 20186 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $000
Cash on hand 1 1 - -
Bank balances 84 150 2 117
85 151 2 117
(2) Reconciliation fo cash at the balance date
Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the cash flow statement:
Balances as above 85 151 2 117
Bank overdraits (note 21) - (122) - -
Cash and cash equivalents 35 23 2 117

{b} Cash at bank and on hand

These items are non-interest bearing.

{c)} Fair value

The carrying amount for cash and cash equivalents equals their fair value.
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10 Current assets - Receivables

Top Energy Consumer Trust
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017
(continued)

Consolidated Parent

2017 2016 2017 2016

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Net trade receivables
Trade debtors 7,345 6,973 - -
Provision for doubtful receivables {536) (331) - -
Net trade receivables 6,809 6.842 - -
Net related party receivable
Receivable from Top Energy Ltd - - 1,576 1,468
Prepayments
Sundry prepaymeanis 695 726 2 2
Accrued income 75 38 - -

770 762 2 2

Total current receivables 7,579 7.404 1,578 1,470
(a) Impaired receivables
Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:
At 1 April 331 372 - -
Provision for impairment arising during the year 170 - - -
Provision for impairment released in the year - (21) - -
Charge {credit) to profit and loss during the period 35 (2) - -
Provision held in Phone Plus 2000 |.td, cleared on
disposal of that company - (18) - -
At 31 March 536 331 - -

The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in ‘other expenses' in profit or loss.
Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional

cash.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

{h) Foreign exchange and interest rate risk

A summarised analysis of the sensitivity of trade and other receivables to foreign exchange and interest rate risk can be

found in note 3.

{¢) Fair value and credit risk

Due to the short-term nature of {rade receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate to their fair value.
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11 Current assets - Inventories

Raw materials
Raw materials at cost

Construction work in progress

Contract costs incurred and recognised profits less
recognised losses

Progress hilling

12 Current assets - Current tax benefit

Excess of tax paid for current period over amount due
Tax benefit of losses

13 Current assets - Intangible assets

Emission Trading Scheme Units

Top Energy Consumer Trust
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017
{continued)

Consolidated Parent
2017 2016 2017 2016
$°000 $'000 $'000 $'000
985 782 - -
208 140 - -
{1,155} {498) - -
38 428 - -
Consolidated Parent
207 2016 2017 2016
$°000 $'000 $'000 $'000
- 128 - -
101 83 - -
101 211 - -
Consolidated Parent
2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
158 800 - -
158 800 - -

The Emission Trading Scheme Units have been purchased to settle the Group's liabllities under the Scheme and are held
in the Group's account at the Registry. They will be surrendered in the May following the end of the calendar year in which

the liability arises.

The Units are held at cost on the grounds that it is not the Group's intention to dispose of them other than in settlement of

its ETS liabilities.
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14 Derivative financial instruments

Current asseis
Electricity Contract for Differences
Total current derivative financial instrument assets

Non-current assets

Interest rate swaps - at fair value through profit or loss -
see below ((a){i)}

Electricity Contract for Differences

Total non-current derivative financial instrument assets

Total derivative financial instrument assets

Current liabilities

Interest rate swaps - at fair value through profit or loss -
see below {(a)(i))

Total current derivative financial instrument liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Interest rate swaps - at fair value through profit or loss -
see below ({a)(i))

Tetal non-current derivative financial instrument
liabilities

Total derivative financial instrument liabilities

Net ({liabilities) in relation to derivative financial
instruments

(#) Instruments used by the Group

(i) Interest rate swaps

Top Energy Consumer Trust
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017
(continued)

Consolidated Parent
2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
1,529 - - -
1,529 - - -
81 - - .
282 - - -
363 - - -
1,892 - - -
404 3.267 - -
404 3.267 - -
9,356 11,006 - -
9,356 11,006 - .
9,760 14,273 - .
(7.868) (14.273) - -

Top Energy Ltd has entered into interest rate swap contracts under which it receives interest at variable rates and pays
interest at fixed rates in respect of the notional principal amount of each contract. At 31 March 2017 the notional principal
amount of current contracts totalled $168,000,000 (31 March 2016: $170,000,000). At 31 March 2017 Top Energy Ltd had
committed to enter into 7 (2016: 6) contracts, with a total notional principal value of $38,000,000 (2016: $36,000,000), fo

replace future maturing contracts.

The contracts require settlement of net interest receivable or payable each 90 days. The settlement dates coincide with
the dates on which interest is payable on the underlying debt. The contracts are settled on a net basis.

(i} Electricity Contract for Differences

The Group has entered into electricity Contract For Differences (CFDs) under which it receives a fixed amount based on a
notional quantity of electricity generation. At 31 March 2017, the notional amount of current contracts totalied $22,123,000
(31 March 2016: $NIL). The setllement dates coincide with the dates on which spot prices are receivable on the
underlying electricity generation, being 20th of the following month. The contracts are seftled on a net basis under a

Power Purchase Agreement as described in note 3(a){iv).

(b) Credit risk exposures

Credit risk arises from the potential failure of counterparties to meet their obligations under the respective contracts at
maturity. This arises on derivative financial instruments with unrealised gains. Details of the Group's exposure to credit

risk are given at note 3(b}.
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Top Energy Consumer Trust
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017
{continued)

15 Non-current assets - Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(a) Parent entity

The Parent eniity owned no assets in the above categeries during the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

{b) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group considers annually whether the carrying values of its property, plant and equipment are supportable, based on
their expected value-in-use. The carrying value of the distribution network at 31 March 2017 did not exceed its Regulatory
Asset Basis value as defined in the Electricity Distribution Information Disclosure Determination 2012.

The external valuation of the generation plant was performed as at 31 March 2017 using an approach bhased principally on
discounted predicted fulure cash flows over a 10 year period to 31 March 2027. The forecasts included estimates of
future revenues, operating costs, capital expenditure, tax depreciation charges, working capital movements and tax
payments.

In setling the expected useful lives of the assets that comprise the Ngawha power station, it has been assumed that the
necessary resource consents, which have a fixed life, will be renewed prior to their expiry. In February 2016 the relevant
resource consents were extended to an expiry date of February 2051.

(c) Valuation of generation plant

Independent valuations of the Group's generation plant were performed by valuers to determine its fair value as at 31
March 2017. The revaluation surplus net of applicable deferred income {axes was credited to other comprehensive
income and is shown in ‘reserves’ in beneficiaries' equity (note 28).

As part of the generation plant revaluation as at 31 March 2017, certain assets with a carrying value of $995,000 were
reclassified from Generation Plant into Plant & Equipment. This has resulted in a change to the net book values as at 1
April 2015 across those two categories. There is no change to the {otal value of Property Plant and Equipment at that
date.

The carrying amount of the generation plant that would have been recognised at 31 March 2017 had those assets been
carried under the cost model is $62,917,000 {31 March 2016: $66,771,000).
{d) Valuation processes of the Group

The Group has engaged external, independent and qualified valuers to determine the fair value of the Group’s generation
plant assets. As at 31 March 2017, the fair values of the generation plant assets were determined by a specialist feam
within PricewaterhouseCoopers, Auckland,

The size and nature of the electricity generation plant is such that there have been no directly comparable disposals within
New Zealand, consequently the valuations were performed using unobservable inputs. The principal factors as
determined by the external valuers are set out in the following table.
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(continued)

15 Non-current assets - Property, plant and equipment (continued)

{e} Information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

Fair value Relationship of
at 31 March Valuation unobservable inputs
Description 2017 technique(s) Significant unobservable inputs to fair value
$'000
Generation plant 152,427 Discounted Projected Wholesale Price Path The higher the revenue,
cash flow {revenue) taking into consideration ASX  the higher the fair
futures prices and the Ministry of value,

Business, |nnovation and Employment's
November 2016 price path forecast.
Cansideration has also been given to the
possibility of the Tiwai smelter closure.

Operating Costs, taking into account The higher the
management's experience and operaling costs, the
knowledge of the asset's condition and lower the fair value.
required maintenance plans.

Capital expenditure, taking into account  The higher ihe capital

management's experience and expenditure, the lower

knowledge of the asset's condition. the fair value.

Weighted average cost of capital, The higher the

determined using a Capital Asset Pricing weighted average cost

Model WACC of 7.9%. of capital, the lower the
fair value.

Terminal growth rate. The higher the terminal

growth rate, the higher
the fair value.

Sensitivities

The valuation is most sensitive to a change in revenue driven by a change in the wholesale price path and WACC. A 5%
movement in revenue and the WACC changes the mid-point valuation by approximately 8% and 7% respectively. The
valuation is moderately sensitive to movements in operating costs. The average impact on the mid-point valuation of a
movement of 5% in operating costs is 3%. The valuation is relatively insensitive to movements in terminal growth rate and
capital expenditure. The average impact on the mid-point valuation of a multiplicative movement of 5% in those variables
is less than 1% on value.

(f) Capitalised borrowing costs

Capital work in progress during the periods reported above comprises capital projects undertaken by the Network division
of Top Energy Ltd which have an expected cost in excess of $500,000 and a planned duration of longer than three
months. Interest on borrowings raised to finance capital projects has been capitlalised. The amount capitalised by the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2017 was $107,000 (2016: §79,000).

Interest capitalised was at the average rate of 2.9% for the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016; 3.8%).
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(continued)
16 Non-current assets - Investment properties
Consolidated Parent

2017 2016 2017 2016

$'000 $'oc0 $'000 $'000
At fair value
Opening balance at 1 April 462 365 - -
Acquisitions - a7 - -
Net gain from fair value adjustment 5 10 - -
Disposals (87) - - -
Ciosing balance at 31 March 380 462 - -

{a) Valuation basis

The investment properties were valued as at 31 March 2017 and 2016 by TelferYoung Lid, registered valuers and
associates of the New Zealand Institute of Valuers, The valuers have recent experience in the location and category of the
investments being valued. The basis of the valuation of investment properties is fair value, being the amounts for which
the properties could be exchanged between willing parties in an arm's length transaction, based on current prices in an
active market for similar properties in the same location and condition and subject to similar leases.

The acquisition in the 2016 year comprises an investment property that was part of the assets of Ginns Ngawha Spa Lid,
which company was acquired by the Group in July 2015. That property was disposed of during the year ended 31 March
2017,

(b) Leasing arrangements

The investment properties at 31 March 2017 comprise two dwellings {at 31 March 2016: three dwellings). Both of these
properties are let for residential purposes on an open tenancy whereby the landlord can give 90 days' notice of termination
to the tenant and the tenant can give 30 days’ notice of vacation to the landlord. At the reporting date both of the
properties were tenanted.

The rents charged are at market rate.
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(continued)
17 Non-current assets - Intangible assets
Emission
Computer Trading

Consolidated Goodwill software Easements Scheme units Total

$'000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Year ended 31 March 2017
Opening net book amount 811 212 3,678 1,878 6,579
Additions - 250 932 - 1,182
Transfers from Capital work in
progress - - 1,798 - 1,798
Reclassification between current
and non-current ETS units - - - 351 351
Amortisation charge - {140) - - (140}
Closing net book amount 811 322 6,408 2229 9770
At 31 March 2017
Cost 811 4,783 6,408 2,229 14,231
Accumulated amortisation - (4.461) - - (4,461)
Net book amount 811 322 5,408 2,229 9770
At 1 April 2015
Cost 811 4,804 2177 - 7,792
Accumulated amortisation - {4.108) - - (4.108)
Net book amount 811 526 2,177 - 3,684
Year ended 31 March 2016
Opening net book amount 811 696 2177 - 3,684
Additions - 3 510 - 513
Disposals - 21) - - (21)
Transfers from Capital work in
progress - - 991 - 991
Reclassification hetween current
and non-current ETS units - - - 1,878 1,878
Amortisation charge - {466) - - (466}
Closing net book amount 811 212 3.678 1,878 6.579
At 31 March 20186
Cost 811 4,533 3,678 1,878 10,900
Accumulated amortisation - (4.321) - - (4,321)
Net book amount 811 212 3.678 1.878 68.579

Parent entity
The Parent entity owned no assets in the above categories during the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.
Emission Trading Scheme units

For further details of the Emission Trading Scheme units refer to note 13 ..
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17 Non-~current assets - Intangible assets (continued)

(a) Allocation of goodwill between cash-generating units

Goodwill is allocated to the following of the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs):

(continued)

Ngawha Total
Generation
Ltd
$'000 $'000
At 31 March 2017
Cost at 1 April 2016 811 811
At 31 March 2017 811 811
At 31 March 2016
Cost at 1 April 2015 811 811
At 31 March 2016 811 811

(b) Impairment testing of goodwill

As described in note 2{q) goodwill is tested at least annually for impairment. An impairment arises where the goodwill's

carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The goodwill recoverable amounts are based on value-in-use calculations. Those calculations use cash flow and profit
projections based on budgets approved by management to 31 March 2023, and a post-tax discount rate of 7.9% (2016:
7.7%). At 31 March 2017 and 2016 the calculations support the carrying amounts of recorded goodwill. Management
believes that any reasonable change in the key assumptions used in the calculations would not cause the current carrying

amount to exceed its recoverable amount.
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Movements in the Group's biological assets are as follows:

Top Energy Consumer Trust
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(continued)

Consolidated Parent

2017 2016 2017 2016

$'000 $000 $°000 $'000
Carrying ameunt at 1 April 546 546 - -
Disposals (1186) - - -
Gain arising from changes in fair value less estimated
costs to sell 708 - - -
Carrying amount at 31 March 1,138 548 - -

At 31 March 2016 the Group's biological assets comprised 55 hectares of forestry plantation with an estimated market
value of $546,000. Of this, 49 hectares valued at $511,000 are owned by Top Energy Ltd and the remaining 6 hectares
are owned by Grazing North Ltd. During the year to 31 March 2017, Top Energy Ltd entered into a contract with
NZForestry Lid for the felling and sale of its forestry block. The work under that contract commenced in February 2017.
The valuation of this block at 31 March 2017 has been recalculated by reference to the volume of timber cut and sold in
the period up to the reporting date, and the estimated volume of timber remaining to be cut. It has been assumed that the
prices realised prior to the reporting date will continue to apply during the period to completion of the contract, which is
estimated to be within the first half of the 2018 reporting year. Previously this block had been independently valued by
Creighton Anderson Property and Infrastructure Ltd., who have extensive experience in the valuation of forestry assets.

The balance of 6 hectares belonging to Grazing North Ltd has been valued at both reporting dates at its cost price of
$35,000, on the grounds that this approximates fo fair value. The plantation comprises slow growing pines and
consequently the impact of biological transformation since it was acquired in 2013 is considered not fo be material.
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19 Non-current assets - Available-for-sale financial asseis

Consolidated Parent
2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $000 $'000 $'coo
At 1 April 597 432 - -
Additions 107 118 - -
Net gain transferred to equity 15 47 - -
At 31 March 719 597 - -

The available-for-sale financial assets at 31 March 2017 comprise 118,592 shares (2016: 100,480 shares) in Fonterra Co-
operative Group Lid ('Fonterra'). Fonterra's shares are quoted on the New Zealand stock exchange. Itis a requirement of
the supply contract with Fonterra that the supplier holds sufficient Fonterra shares in order to be able to supply the
contracted volume of milk. The Group has made further purchases of shares during the years ended 31 March 2016 and
2017 in order to meet its obligations.

The shares are carried at fair value, which is determined by reference to Stock Exchange quoted bid prices. Gains or
losses resulting from changes in fair value are included in other comprehensive income.

The maximum exposure to market risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of the securities classified as available for
sale.

Critical jJudgements regarding impairment of available-for-sale equity investments

The Group follows the guidance of NZ IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to determine when an
available-for-sale equity investment is impaired. This determination requires significant judgement. In making this
judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment is
less than its cost. It also evaluates the financial health of, and short-term business outlook for, the investee, including
factors such as industry and sector performance, changes in technolegy and operational and financing cash flow.

If all of the declines in fair value below cost were considered significant or prolonged, the Group would suffer an additional
loss of $88,000 in its 2017 financial statements (2016: $103,000), being the transfer of the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity on the impaired available-for-sale financial assets to the profit or loss component of the
statement of comprehensive income.
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20 Current liabilities - Payables

Consolidated Parent
2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 5'000
Trade payables 4,346 2,831 7 22
GST payable 324 501 - -
ACC levies. PAYE and other payroll taxes 200 291 - -
Payroll creditors 1,109 1,132 “ -
Accruals 2,107 2,160 18 18
Unclaimed dividends due to Trust beneficiaries 932 932 932 932
9.018 7.847 957 972

Foreign currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Parent's and the Group's trade and other payables are denominated wholly in New Zealand
dollars at both reporting dates. Consequently, the Parent and the Group bear no foreign currency risk in this regard.

21 Current liabilities - Interest bearing liabilities

Consolidated Parent
2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Bank overdrafis - 122 - -
Total current interest bearing borrowings - 122 - -

The bank borrowings held in Top Energy Lid and its subsidiaries are subject to negative pledges given to Top Energy Lid's
bankers. Further details are provided at note 24. The Top Energy Consumer Trust is not a party to these pledges.

22 Current liabilities - Current tax liabilities

Consolidated Parent
2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Income tax payable 686 340 - -
686 340 “ -
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23 Current liabilities - Provisions

Consolidated Parent
2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Employee benefits 478 456 - -
478 456 - -

The provision for employee benefits relates to entitlements to retirement gratuity payments under a scheme that ceased to
be available to new employees more than 20 years ago. The provision has been calculated as the present value of
expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by eligible employees up to the reporting date, using
those employees' current wage and salary levels. The provision represents the full entitiement of those qualifying
employees who have reached the age of 50 by the balance date, plus a percentage of the full entitlement of those
employees who have not yet attained the qualifying age by the reporting date.

24 Non-current liabilities - Interest bearing liabilities

Consolidated Parent
2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Bank loans 143.760 149.610 - -
Total non-current interest bearing liabilities 143,760 149 610 - -

(a} Liabilities subject to negative pledges given over assets

Total liabilities {both current and non-current) in respect of which negative pledges have been given to its bankers by all
companies in the Top Energy Ltd Group are as follows:

Bank overdrafts and bank loans 143,760 149,732 = -
Total liabilities covered by negative pledges 143,760 149.732 - -

(b) Banking covenants

The bank loans and overdraft are subject to identical negative pledges given to both of the Top Energy Ltd Group's banks.
The pledges impose certain covenants on a "Guaranteeing Group". The Guaranteeing Group comprises all Top Energy
l.td Group companies at 31 March 2017. Each negative pledge states that the Guaranteeing Group will not provide
security over 5% or greater of its total tangible assets to a third party in preference to either the Bank of New Zealand
Limited or the Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Ltd (as applicable) and will ensure that the following financial
ratios are met:

{i} debt will not exceed 60% of the aggregate of the total debt plus shareholders’ funds of the Top Energy Ltd Group;
and

(ii} borrowing costs will not exceed 40% of the Top Energy Ltd Group's earnings before borrowing costs, taxation,
depreciation and amortisation, and unrealised gains or losses from foreign exchange, interest rate swaps, futures
and options ("EBITDAF™); and

(iii} total tangible assets of the Guaranteeing Group will net he less than 90% of the total tangible assets of the Top
Energy Ltd Group.

All of the above covenants were complied with throughout the year.

-40-



25 Non-current liabilities - Deferred tax liabilities

Top Energy Consumer Trust
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017
{continued)

Consolidated Parent

2017 2016 2017 2016

$'000 $°000 $'000 $'000
The balance comprises temporary differences
attributable to:
Property, plant and equipment 53,044 45,871 - -
Intangible assets (59) (59) . -
Financiat assets at fair value through profit or foss (2,203) (4,058} - -
Other temporary differences {441) (461) - -
Net deferred tax liabilities 50,341 41,293 - -
Movements
Opening balance at 1 April 41,293 42,783 - -
Arising on acquisition of subsidiary - 412 - -
Charged / (credited) to profit or loss 2,453 {(1,381) - -
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiary - (521) - -
Tax charged directly to equity {note 7) 6.895 - - -
Closing balance at 31 March 50,341 41,293 - -
Expected maturity of deferred tax liabilities
Within 12 months (126) (1,438) - -
in excess of 12 months 50,467 42,731 - -

50,341 41,293 - -

The tax rate applied in calculating the deferred tax provision was 28% at 31 March 2017 and 20186.

26 Imputation credits

Balances

Consolidated only

Imputation credits available for subsequent reporting periods based on a tax rate of 28%

(2016: 28%)

2017 2016
$'000 3'000
8,172 5794

The above amounts represent the balance of the Group companies' imputation accounts as at the end of the reporting

period, adjusted for:

a) Imputation credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax;
b) Imputation debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liabilily at the reporting date; and
c) Imputation credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date.

-50-



Top Energy Consumer Trust
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017
{continued)

27 Settlors’ capital

Consolidated Parent
2017 2016 2017 2016
$ $ $ 5
{a) Settlor's capital
On settlement - 23 April 1993 100 100 100 100

(b) Capital risk management

The Trustees regularly monitor the Group's capital ratios. The Trustees have delegated the responsibility for day-to-day
maintenance of the Group’s overall capital position to the Directors of the Top Energy Lid Group.,

The Top Energy Ltd Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern
in order to continue to provide returns for its shareholder, and to maintain an optimal capital structure to minimise the
Group's cost of capital.

in order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Top Energy Lid Group may adjust the amount of distributions paid
to the Trust, may return capital to the Trust, and may sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by totai capital:

. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including 'borrowings’ and ‘trade and other payables' as shown in the
statement of financial position} less cash and cash equivalents.

. Total capital is calculated as 'equity’ as shown in the statement of financial position (excluding any minority
interest) plus net debt. Total capital excludes the valuation of derivatives at the reporting date.

During the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016 the Group's strategy was to maintain a gearing ratio of less than 60%.
The gearing ratios at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016 were as follows:

Top Energy Ltd Group

2017 2016

$000 $'000
Total borrowings 146,170 152,121
Less: cash and cash equivalents {83} (34)
Net debt 146,087 152,087
Total equity 192,148 162,572
Exclude: derivatives at valuation 7,868 14,723
Exclude: available-for-sale financial assets cumulative
valuation movement 88 103
Total capital 346,191 329,485
Gearing ratio 42 % 46 %
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28 Reserves and retained earnings

Consolidated Parent

2017 2016 2017 2016

$'000 $'000 $°000 $'000
(2) Reserves
Property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve 67,300 49,570 - -
Available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve (88) (103) - -

67,212 49 467 - -

Movements
Property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve
Balance at 1 April 49,570 52,058 - -
Revaluation - surplus before tax 26,474 - - -
Deferred tax on {he revaluation surplus (7,413) - - -
Depreciation transfer - gross - (3,456) - “
Deferred tax on the amount released from reserve - 968 - -
Reversal of revaluation surplus on assets wrilten off (1,849) - - -
Deferred tax released on write-down 518 - - -
Balance at 31 March 67,300 49.570 - -
Available-for-sale invesiments revaluation reserve
Balance at 1 Agril {103) (150} “ -
Fair value gains in the year 15 47 - -
Balance at 31 March (88) (103) - -
{b) Retained earnings
Movements in retained earnings were as follows:
Balance 1 April 113,724 109,650 25,882 25,881
Net profit for the year 11,835 1,586 8 1
Net transfer from revaluation reserve - 2,488 - -
Balance at 31 March 125,559 113,724 25,890 25,882
29 Distributions

All payments made to beneficiaries of the Trust during the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016 related {o the re-issue of
distributions arising in financial years up to 31 March 2011. Accordingly, these re-issued payments were charged against
the provisions previously made.
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30 Trustee and Director disclosures

(a} Trustees
The following persons were Trustees of the Top Energy Consumer Trust during the financial year ended 31 March 2017;

Mr Hugh Ammundsen

Mrs Ann Court

Mr Ken Rintoul

Mrs Yvonne Sharp (Chair)
Mr Stuart Spittle

Mr Hugh Ammundsen, Mrs Ann Court and Mrs Yvonne Sharp retired by rotation at 31 March 2017. All three were
appointed for a further term of four years.

Mr Stuart Spittle resigned as a trustee and was replaced by Mr Bruce Mathieson effective 19 June 2017.

All of the Trustees are connected to Top Energy Limited's electricity distribution network and therefore are also
beneficiaries of the Top Energy Consumer Trust,

(b} Trustees' and Directors' remuneration

Details of the remuneration of each Trustee of the Top Energy Consumer Trust and of each Director of Top Energy Limited

and of various subsidiary companies within the Top Energy Lid Group are set out in the following tables.

Year to 31 March 2017

Cash salary

Name and fees Total
3 5

Trustees of the Top Energy Consumer Trust
H Ammundsen 14,393 14,393
A Court 11,841 11,841
K Rintoul 11,841 11,841
Y Sharp 22,687 22,687
S Spittle 11,841 11,841
Directors of Top Energy Ltd
M Bain (from 1.5.2016) 84,333 84,333
P Byrnes (fo 28.6.20186) 21,750 21,750
R Krogh 47,363 47,363
J Parsons 50,205 50,205
G Steed 54,114 54,114
P White 47,363 47,363
S Young 47,363 47,363
Directors of other Group companies
S James* - -
R Kirkpatrick 47,363 47,363
R Shaw* - -
Total 472,457 472,457
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Year to 31 March 2016
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(continued)

Cash salary

Name and fees Total
3 3

Trustees of the Top Energy Consumer Trust
H Ammundsen 13,343 13,343
A Court 11,500 11,500
K Rintoul 10,573 10,573
Y Sharp 21,454 21,454
S Spittle 10,573 10,673
Directors of Top Energy Ltd
P Byrnes 86,125 86,125
R Krogh 46,000 46,000
J Parsons 46,000 46,000
G Steed 52,461 52,461
P White 46,000 48,000
S Young 46,000 46,000
Directors of other Group companies
P. Dohery™ {from 7.7.2015 {0 26.8.2015) - -
8 James” - -
R Kirkpatrick 46,000 46,000
R Shaw* - -
Total 436,029 436,029

The directors of various subsidiary companies whose names are marked with * are employees of Top Energy Ltd and are

remunerated by that company.

(c) Trustees' and Directors' interests in other entities

The Trust maintains a register of trustees’ interests in other entities, No trustee has declared a conflict of interest in

respect of their interests in other entities.

Each company within the Group maintains a register of its directors' interests in other entities. No director has declared a

conflict of interest in respect of their interests in other entities.

The Top Energy Ltd Group has had a business refationship with Turners Auctions Ltd for a number of years. This has not
been affected by Mr P Byrnes' directorship of Turners Auctions Ltd and its group of companies.
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31 Contingencies

As at 31 March 2017 a "Guaranteeing Group" had executed identical deeds of pledge in favour of Bank of New Zealand
Limited and Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Lid. The Guaranteeing Group comprises all Top Energy Ltd Group
companies. Each deed of pledge imposes a liability on each subsidiary company within the Top Energy Ltd Group,
whaereby each subsidiary is liable to repay the tolal debt of the Top Energy Ltd Group should Top Energy Ltd, as primary
borrower, fail to meet its obligations under the funding agreement. The deed of pledge in favour of Australia and New
Zealand Banking Group Ltd was executed on 29 July 2015, The deed of pledge in favour of Bank of New Zealand Ltd has
been in place for many years. The Top Energy Consumer Trust is not a party to either of these pledges.

Phone Plus 2000 Ltd ceased to be a member of the Guaranteeing Group when it was sold on 31 March 2016,

The Top Energy Ltd Group has provided performance bonds and guarantee bonds to unrelated third parties in respect of
the costs of existing and potential future obligations arising from its business activities. It has also received bonds from
unrelated third parties in respect of the amounts of retention monies and potential remedial costs arising from any non-
performance by those third parties of their obligations. At 31 March 2017 the total value of contingent obligations entered
into by the Top Energy Ltd Group was $450,000 (2016: $450,000) and the total value of contingent receivables from third
parties was $305,000 (2016: $515,000).

In addition to the bond obligations detailed above, under the ferms of the agreement for sale of Phone Plus 2000 Ltd, the
Top Energy Ltd Group remains guarantor for the rent payable on Phore Plus 2000 Lid's premises in Auckland. That
guarantee was provided under the terms of the original lease. The guarantee runs until 31 July 2018. The total contingent
liability at 31 March 2017 under this guarantee was $191,000 (31 March 2016: $273,000).

32 Commitments

(a) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not yet incurred is as follows:

Consolidated Parent
2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Property, plant and equipment 6,423 848 - -
6,423 846 - -

(b) Operating leases

The Top Energy Ltd Group has operating lease commitments for property and office equipment rentals. Operating leases
held over properties give the Top Energy Ltd Group the right to renew the lease subject {o a redetermination of the lease
rental by the lessor.

Commitments for aggregate minimum payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Consolidated Parent

2017 2016 2017 2016

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Within one year 889 871 - -
Later than one year but not later than five years 2,281 2,758 - -
Later than five years 3,293 3.652 - -
Commitments not recognised in the financial
statements 6,463 7,281 - -
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33 Related party transactions

(a) Transactions with Top Energy Ltd and other Group entities

During the year, Top Energy Ltd processed transactions on an agency hasis on behalf of the Trust in order fo setile the
latter's routine business dealings.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, Top Energy Lid paid a dividend to the Trust of $165,000 (2016: $115,000). These
dividends were to assist with the Trust's running costs.

The Trust charged Top Energy Ltd interest at prevailing market rates on the balance of funds loaned, totalling $43,000 in
the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: $58,000). The effective average interest rate applied by the Trust on the loan to
Top Energy Ltd during the year ended 31 March 2017 was 2.9% (2016: 3.8%).

The batances receivable from Top Energy Lid at the relevant balance dates are detailed in section (f} below and have
been included in receivables in the statement of financial position {see note 10). All transactions between Top Energy Lid
and the Trust are made on normal business terms.

Interest charged between the Trust and Top Energy Ltd and balances due between the parties are eliminated on
consolidation.
() Trustees

The names of persons who were trustees of the Trust at any time during the financial year are given at note 30.

(c) Keymanagement perscnnel remuneration

The totals below refer to remuneration paid to employees of the Top Energy Ltd Group only. They do not include the
remuneration of the Trustees of the Trust, details of which are given at note 30.

Post-
Short-term employment  Otherlong- Termination
benefits benefits term benefits benefits Total
$'000 §'o00 3'000 $'000 $'000
Year ended 31 March 2017 4,671 108 68 271 5118
Year ended 31 March 2016 4,692 104 50 - 4,846

There were no contracts for share-based payments during the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

(d) Other transactions with key management personnel or entities related to them

There were no transactions with key management personnel or entities related to them, other than the payment of
remuneration, during the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: none).

(e) Subsidiaries

The Trust's interests in its direct and indirect subsidiaries are set out in note 35.
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33 Related party transactions {continued)

{f} Loan to Top Energy Limited

The movements in and balances of the loan between the Trust and Top Energy Lid were as follows:

Parent only

2017 2016

$'000 $'000
Balance due from Top Energy Ltd at 1 April 1,468 1,554
Amounts advanced to Top Energy Ltd 65 -
Interest charged to Top Energy Ltd 43 58
Amounts repaid by Top Energy Lid - {144}
Balance due from Top Energy Ltd at 31 March 1,576 1,468

The above balance is unsecured and is repayable on demand.

(g) Guarantees
Details of negative pledges made by the Top Energy Ltd Group to its bankers are given at note 24,

Outstanding balances between entities within the Group are unsecured and are repayable on demand.

34 Acquisitions, disposals and business combinations

(a) Summary of acquisitions

On 7 July 2015 Top Energy Ltd purchased the entire issued share capital of Ginns Ngawha Spa Ltd. The previous
shareholders were not connected to any member of the Top Energy Ltd Group. The company's name was changed to Top
Energy Ngawha Spa Lid on 8 July 2015.

On 28 October 2015 Top Energy Ltd formed a new subsidiary company, Ngawha Spa Lid. This company remained
dormant until its subsequent amalgamation (see section (c) below).

(b} Disposal of subsidiary

On 31 March 2016 the Group disposed of its entire interest in Phene Plus 2000 Ltd. Details are given at note 8.

(¢} Amaigamation

On 10 March 2017 Ngawha Spa Ltd was amalgamated into Top Energy Ltd using the short-form amaigamation process
under the Companies Act 1993. Until the date of amalgamation, Ngawha Spa Ltd had been a wholly owned subsidiary of
Top Energy Ltd. Ngawha Spa Ltd had no assets or liabilities at any time prior to the amalgamation. Ngawha Spa Ltd has
been removed from the New Zealand register of companies.
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35Investments in subsidiaries

The Group had the following subsidiaries at 31 March 2017

Name Country of Nature of business Proportion Proportion
incorporation of ordinary of ordinary
and place of shares shares
business directly held by the

held by the Group
Parent
Yo Y

Grazing North Ltd New Zealand Farming - 100

Ngawha Generation L.td New Zealand Electricity generation - 100

Top Energy Ltd New Zealand Electricity distribution 100 -

Top Energy Ngawha Spa Ltd New Zealand Landholding - 100

The companies listed above are directly-held subsidiaries of Top Energy Ltd. Top Energy Ltd is a directly-held subsidiary
of the Trust.

All subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidation. The proportions of the voting rights in the subsidiary
undertakings held directly by the Parent company do not differ from the proportion of ordinary shares held.

Top Energy Consumer Trust's interest in its direct subsidiary, Top Energy Ltd

2017 2018
$'000 $'000
Shares at cost
Shares at cost - Top Energy |.td 25,267 25,267

36 Events occurring after the reporting period

As detailed in note 30, Mr Stuart Spittle resigned as a trustee on 19 June 2017 and has been replaced by Mr Bruce
Mathieson.

In the opinion of the Trustees, there are no other events occurring after the reporting date which require disclosure in
these financial statements.
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37 Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash inflow from operating activities

Consolidated Parent
2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Profit for the year 11,835 1,586 8 1
Adjustments made for:
Depreciation and amortisation 15,423 15,827 - -
Dividend received from subsidiary - - (165) (115)
Net loss (gain) on sale of non-current assets 1,371 279 - -
Falr value (gain) loss on biological assets {708) - - -
Movement in provision for doubtful debts 205 (41} - -
Fair value (gains) losses on cther financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (6,410) 5,557 - -
Changes in working capital:

Decrease (increase) in frade debtors (372) 58 - 1

Decrease (increase) in inventories 388 (157} - -

Decrease (increase) in other operating assets 283 (227} - -

Increase {decrease) in trade creditors 1,246 (2,733) (15) 22

Increase {decrease) in other operating liabilities (53) 284 - 3

increase (decrease) in income taxes payable 456 (786) - -
Increase (decrease) in provision for deferred income tax 2,153 (1.444) - -
Net cash inflow from operating activities 25817 18,203 (172) (88)
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Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited consolidated financial
statements

This audit report relates to the consolidated financial statements of Top Energy
Consumer Trust (the "Trust") for the year ended 31 March 2017 included on Top Energy
Group's (the “Group”) website. The Trust is responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the Group's website. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of the
Group's website. We accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to
the consolidate financial statements since they were initially presented on the website

The audit report refers only to the consolidated financial statements named above. It
does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked
to/from these consoclidated financial statements. If readers of this report are concerned
with the inherent risks arising from electronic data communication they should refer to
the published hard copy of the audited consolidated financial statements and related
audit report for the year ended 31 March 2017 to confirm the information included in the
audited consolidated financial statements presented on this website.

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial

statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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To the Beneficiaries of Top Energy Consumer Trust

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Top Energy Consumer Trust on pages 8 to 59 which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive revenue and expense, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Trust as at 31 March 2017 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with New Zealand Equivalents to International Reporting Standards issued by the New
Zealand Accounting Standards Board.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs (NZ)). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Awditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statenents section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) Code of Eibics for Assurance Practitioners issued by the New Zealand
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the Group.
Other Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor's Report thereon
The Trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Trustee’s Review

but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express

any form of opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.

Chartered Accountants
Member of Grant Thornlon International Lid



In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Trustees' Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The trustees are responsible on behalf of the entity for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with New Zealand Equivalents to International Reporting Standards issued by
the New Zealand Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal control as those charged with governance
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, those charged with governance are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease opetations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (NZ) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can atise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on
the External Reporting Board’s website at: https://www.xrb.govt.nz/standards-for-assurance-

bractitioners /auditors-responsibilities /audit-report-8

Restriction on use of our report

This report is made solely to the Group’s beneficiaries. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might
state to the Group’s beneficiaries those matters which we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Group and the Group’s beneficiaries for our audit work, for this report or for the opinion we have
formed.
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